University of Northern Iowa UNI ScholarWorks

Graduate Research Papers

Student Work

2013

Gifted student achievement and motivation levels related to participation in gifted programming

Stacey M. Jambura University of Northern Iowa

Copyright ©2013 Stacey M. Jambura Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uni.edu/grp

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons, and the Gifted Education Commons

Let us know how access to this document benefits you

Recommended Citation

Jambura, Stacey M., "Gifted student achievement and motivation levels related to participation in gifted programming" (2013). *Graduate Research Papers*. 129. https://scholarworks.uni.edu/grp/129

This Open Access Graduate Research Paper is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Work at UNI ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Research Papers by an authorized administrator of UNI ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@uni.edu.

Gifted student achievement and motivation levels related to participation in gifted programming

Abstract

This study evaluated the gifted program of an urban school district in the Midwestern United States. Fifteen identified gifted students (4 male, 11 female; 11 European-American, 4 African-American; 7 ninth grade, 4 tenth grade, and 4 eleventh grade students) participated in the study by replying to a survey. High school gifted student attitudes toward achievement and motivation were examined and open-ended prompts supplied information on program strengths and weaknesses. Results indicate that participation in the program has led to the development of critical thinking skills, increased students ' desires to strive for excellence, and allowed students to examine different perspectives. Students suggested the program should add more independent work, more challenging and in-depth project work to courses, incorporate more advanced work into regular coursework, and continue to provide opportunities for gifted students to interact with their intellectual peers. Gifted Student Achievement and Motivation Levels

Related to Participation in Gifted Programming

A Graduate Project

Submitted to the

Department of Curriculum and Instruction

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts in Education of the Gifted

UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA

by

Stacey M. Jambura

August, 2013

This Project by: Stacey M. Jambura

Titled: Gifted Student Achievement and Motivation Levels Related to Participation in

Gifted Programming

has been approved as meeting the research requirement for the

Degree of Master of Arts in Education of the Gifted

08/05/13

Date Approved

8-5-13 Date Approved

8--13-12 Date Approved

Dr. Audrey C. Rule, Chair of Committee Coordinator of the Education of the Gifted Program Department of Curriculum and Instruction

Dr. Stephanie Logan, Second Reader Elementary Education Division Department of Curriculum and Instruction

Dr. Jill Uhlenberg, Department Chair Department of Curriculum and Instruction

Table of Contents

Chapter	Heading
	Abstract
1	Introduction
	Importance of Gifted Programming and Student Achievement and Motivation Issues Related to Retention of Gifted Students in Gifted Programs and Schools
	Statement of the Problem
	Personal Interest in the Topic
	Terms Related to the Study
2	Literature Review
	Quality Gifted Programs
	Social-Emotional Needs of the Gifted
	Most Important Impacts of Gifted Programs
	Gifted Program Evaluation
3	Method
	Design of the District's Gifted Education Program
	Participants and Research Setting
	Research Design
	Data Analysis
4	Results and Discussion
	Student Reponses to Attitude Items
	Student Reponses to Open-Ended Prompts
5	Conclusions and Recommendations
	Summary of Results
	Recommendations for Changes to the Survey Implications for Changes to Practices in the Current
	Gifted Program
	Recommendations for Future Research
	Appendix
	Арреник

Abstract

This study evaluated the gifted program of an urban school district in the Midwestern United States. Fifteen identified gifted students (4 male, 11 female; 11 European-American, 4 African-American; 7 ninth grade, 4 tenth grade, and 4 eleventh grade students) participated in the study by replying to a survey. High school gifted student attitudes toward achievement and motivation were examined and open-ended prompts supplied information on program strengths and weaknesses. Results indicate that participation in the program has led to the development of critical thinking skills, increased students' desires to strive for excellence, and allowed students to examine different perspectives. Students suggested the program should add more independent work, more challenging and in-depth project work to courses, incorporate more advanced work into regular coursework, and continue to provide opportunities for gifted students to interact with their intellectual peers.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Gifted education has grown and evolved since the turn of the twentieth century when it was first recognized that gifted students had different needs than typical students (National Association for Gifted Children, 2008a). Giftedness was first defined by an individual's intelligence quotient (IQ) with a minimum IQ score being at least two standard deviations above the population average, a standard score of 130 or better (Feldman, 2003). Today, new perspectives on intelligence have emerged, from Howard Gardner's Multiple Intelligences Theory (1993) to Robert Sternberg's Triarchic Theory (1997, 2003). These and other theories propose a wider range and understanding of giftedness.

A multitude of models and strategies have been developed to support gifted students. Some gifted curriculum models are: the School-Wide Enrichment Model (Renzulli & Reis, 1985), Autonomous Learner Model (Betts, 1985), the Parallel Curriculum Model (Tomlinson, Kaplan, Renzulli, Purcell, Leppien, & Burns, 2002), and the Integrated Curriculum Model (VanTassel-Baska, 2009). Most models follow the same basic framework of curriculum design and development that is transferable and usable in all content areas and grade levels, is applicable across schools and grouping settings, and incorporates differentiation for the gifted learner (VanTassel-Baska & Brown, 2009).

With no national funding or specific requirements for gifted education, there is a wide variability between states and, in many cases, an even larger inconsistency between districts of the same state. This irregularity leaves room for interpretation of gifted education and what works best for gifted students. The National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) developed a set of PreK-12 Gifted Programming Standards to assist

school districts by providing a framework for gifted education (1998, 2010). The National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education (NCATE) also approved teacher preparation standards in gifted education, the NAGC-CEC Teacher Knowledge & Skill Standards for Gifted and Talented Education (2006). These standards were created jointly by the National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC), the Council for Exceptional Children (CEC), and the Association for the Gifted (CEC-TAG). Together these standards help create a more systematic approach to meeting the needs of gifted children.

Importance of Gifted Programming and Student Achievement and Motivation

There are many different settings in which the education of gifted students occurs. Many schools have pull-out programs in which identified students from the regular classroom are removed to a special classroom to receive specialized gifted instruction. Other schools differentiate instruction in the classroom to meet the needs of the wide range of student abilities or use a tracking method to provide instruction at different levels for homogeneously-grouped students. Alternatively, there are magnet schools or special schools within a school for gifted students that cater to their needs in an all-day program. Additionally, gifted students are often grade/subject accelerated or dual enrolled to join their intellectual peers (National Association for Gifted Children, 2008b). Unfortunately, there are many schools that prefer to teach students in heterogeneous groups and require everyone to work at the same level and pace; thus creating gifted students who are bored and unengaged in school (Winner, 1996).

Of particular interest to this researcher are pull-out programs because this form of gifted programming is used at the elementary level by the school district at which this

research project took place. At schools with pull-out programs, gifted and high ability students need to be presented with opportunities to be challenged both in and out of the regular classroom, allowing them to make continuous progress in school. Students who are not challenged often become bored and/or frustrated with school (Kanevsky & Keighley, 2003; Siegle & McCoach, 1999). Gifted programming allows gifted students to interact with like-ability peers, developing individual talents and abilities. A study by Vaughn, Feldhusen, and Asher (1991) examined nine pull-out programs for gifted students for effectiveness. This study found that pull-out models in gifted education had significant positive effects on student achievement, critical thinking, and creativity. Many studies have found that gifted students who participate in gifted pull-out programs have more positive attitudes towards school, giftedness, and their programs of study than those gifted students who stay in the regular classroom (Rogers, 2007; Shields 2002). "When pull-out gifted programs were eliminated, parents reported that their children were experiencing – 'a decline in energy, curiosity, and intrinsic motivation to achieve at high levels and were beginning to disengage from the traditional curriculum'" (Purcell, 1993). Issues Related to Retention of Gifted Students in Gifted Programs and Schools

Numerous studies on the effectiveness of gifted programming have been conducted as indicated later in this paragraph. Longitudinally, students who participate in gifted programming have increased aspirations for college and careers, develop postsecondary and career plans, and achieve more advanced degrees. Students also develop creativity and motivational skills that are later applied to their careers (Colangelo, Assouline, Gross, 2004; Lubinski, Webb, Morelock, & Benbow, 2001; Delcourt, 1993; Hérbert, 1993; Taylor, 1992). Additionally, gifted programs are effective at serving gifted and advanced students from diverse ethnic and socioeconomic populations in a variety of educational settings and have been found to reverse underachievement in these students. (Baum, 1998; Baum Hébert, & Renzulli, 1999; Colangelo, Assouline, & Gross, 2004; Gavin, et. al., 2007; Hébert & Reis, 1999; Little, et. al., 2007; Reis & Diaz, 1999; Reis, et. al., 2007).

For gifted students to remain motivated in school and develop habits of lifelong learning, a gifted program should include these five components: choice, interest, enjoyment, personal meaning, and challenge (Gentry & Ferriss, 1999). Allowing students to choose curricula and problems to research increases interest and motivation to achieve, resulting in enjoyment of the tasks and increased personal meaning because the tasks are self-selected and self-directed. Higher-level content and higher-level thinking skills work together to promote challenge. Together these five concepts help build an intellectually stimulating environment where gifted students thrive and progress. If the level of challenge and intellectual stimulation is off-balance (i.e. low challenge and low stimulation, high challenge and low stimulation, high challenge and adequate stimulation), students may become bored, indifferent, or frustrated (Siegle & McCoach, 1999). When the level of challenge is in balance with the level of intellectual stimulation, students will be motivated and successful.

Statement of the Problem

The identification of students for inclusion in a gifted education program may occur as early as pre-kindergarten, but does early identification positively or negatively effect future motivation and academic achievement? The following are the research questions addressed by this study:

- What are the reported attitudes of students participating in the school district's gifted and talented program?
- What are the reported impacts of the gifted program on students?
- What suggestions do students have for improving the program?

Personal Interest in the Topic

The researcher chose to conduct this study after years of involvement in gifted education both as a student and as a teacher. As a product of gifted programming beginning with grade acceleration into kindergarten at the age of four, to all-day gifted programming in elementary and middle-school, to honors and advanced placement courses in high school, the researcher experienced first-hand the importance of gifted education and the positive and negative impacts it can have on a student. Now that the researcher is a teacher in the field of gifted education, it is of extreme interest and importance to ensure that students who participate in a gifted program receive a quality education and a positive experience.

Terms Related to the Study

Gifted and Talented Students/Individuals: The meaning of giftedness has been widely debated, thus, there are many variations of the definition. Many states and districts follow the federal definition but the National Association for Gifted Children definition also includes sensorimotor skills. Collectively, these definitions produce a more comprehensive understanding of giftedness.

<u>Federal Definition</u>: This definition is taken from the <u>Javits Act</u>, which provides grants for education programs serving bright children from low-income families: "The term gifted and talented student means children and youths who give evidence of higher performance capability in such areas as intellectual, creative, artistic, or leadership capacity, or in specific academic fields, and who require services or activities not ordinarily provided by the schools in order to develop such capabilities fully."

The federal <u>Elementary and Secondary Education Act</u> defines gifted students as "Students, children, or youth who give evidence of high achievement capability in areas such as intellectual, creative, artistic, or leadership capacity, or in specific academic fields, and who need services and activities not ordinarily provided by the school in order to fully develop those capabilities." [Title IX, Part A, Definition 22. (2002)]

<u>National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) Definition (2008c):</u> "Gifted individuals are those who demonstrate outstanding levels of aptitude (defined as an exceptional ability to reason and learn) or competence (documented performance or achievement in top 10% or rarer) in one or more domains. Domains include any structured area of activity with its own symbol system (e.g., mathematics, music, language) and/or set of sensorimotor skills (e.g., painting, dance, sports)."

Identification of Gifted Students: Most theorists believe that intelligence tests and other cognitive abilities tests provide an important piece of information about an individual's potential; however, they should not be over relied on as they do not supply all the information needed to identify gifted students (Callahan, 1982; Torrance, 1984; Birch, 1984; Borland & Wright, 1994). Other indicators should also be used in the identification process and should be given equal consideration when making decisions about the services an individual may need. Two different categories of indicators include status information and action information (Renzulli, 2004). Status information includes all data that can be recorded such as test scores, grades and academic accomplishments, and

teacher, parent, peer, and self-nominations. Action information is similar to dynamic assessment or performance-based assessment; however, it is used to make proactive decisions rather than an evaluation of student progress. In the end, professional judgment, rather than instruments and scores, should be used to make the final decision for identification.

Program Evaluation: Program evaluation should be an ongoing process throughout the course of a school year rather than an end-of-the-year assessment. Goals and objectives should be set prior to the start of a program, as they are the foundation on which the program will be built. A methodology should also be designed to measure whether the goals and objectives are met (Tomlinson & Callahan, 1994).

Sample Survey: A sample survey consists of a selection of a subset from an entire population (Wiersma, 1986). Sample surveys that target a significant portion of the population may determine the frequency of an attribute in a group and its distribution (Krathwohl, 1998).

Systematic Sampling: A systematic sampling is conducted by selecting every *n*th subject of a population to participate in a study. The weakness of conducting a sampling of this nature occurs if the population is initially arranged in a pattern. This could result in only subjects with similar characteristics or contexts to be studied (McMillan, 2012). To avoid a potential flaw in data, this study arranged all subjects from each school alphabetically by last name and selected every 2nd student. This helped ensure students from all cultures and ethnicities were included, as there are cultural trends in last names.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The following literature review outlines research regarding gifted education and its impacts. The current definition and requirements of quality gifted programs are indentified. The social-emotional needs of gifted students as well as student impacts from gifted programming are examined. Finally, the purpose and importance of program evaluation are discussed.

Quality Gifted Programs

When examining whether a gifted program is of high quality, it is important to note that gifted programs should focus around developing students' abilities and supplying them with opportunities (Clark, 1997) and most importantly, gifted education is not a separate entity from the regular education program; rather it builds and expands upon it (Hunsaker & Callahan, 1991).

The National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) developed Gifted Program Standards for grades PK-12 (1998) to support districts as they examine the quality of their gifted programs. They addressed standards in seven areas that follow the basic framework of minimal standards and exemplary standards: student identification, professional development, socio-emotional guidance and counseling, program evaluation, program design, program administration and management, and curriculum and instruction. NAGC further explained that these standards are recommendations, not mandates, for how to construct a quality program and establish a level at which all should aspire to perform.

Research suggests that current strengths in gifted programs include a dedicated personnel with a diversity of approaches and options (VanTassel-Baska, 2006). However,

current limitations are more numerous. VanTassel-Baska discussed the perceived notion that gifted programs are highly beneficial for students, but research reveals that programs suffer from poor teaching and lack of curricular structure. This researcher found that systematic evaluations of programs were lacking; current identification systems in place were imperfect; program development failed to grow with student or school needs; gifted education educators lacked educational background in gifted education; and, furthermore, gifted education lacked needed resources, including personnel and funding (VanTassel-Baska, 2006). Thus, a gifted program should include strengths in each of these areas in order to be considered a "quality gifted program".

Social-Emotional Needs of the Gifted

One of the issues gifted students face is fitting in with age peers. Hollingworth (1942) was the first psychologist to study peer relationships of gifted students of varying intelligence levels. She found that students with an IQ between 125-155 had "socially optimal intelligence" because these students tended to be well-balanced, self-confident, outgoing, and able to make friends amongst their age group. Hollingworth found that students with an IQ over 160 had such a large disparity of intelligence from their chronologically aged peers that they were not able to find others with like-abilities or interests. Students who are extremely gifted (IQ of 170+) tend to have "considerably more difficulty in making social adjustments" than moderately gifted students (Burks, Jensen, Terman, 1930). These highly talented students are the most vulnerable when it comes to being accepted by their peers most likely because "they are exceedingly 'out of sync' with school, friends, and even family" (Janos & Robinson, 1985). They may appear to be adjusted but may not have strong and fulfilling social connections. Despite these

troubling findings, students who are removed from inappropriate grade placements and placed with their intellectual peers are able to make friends and be accepted by their classmates (Hollingworth, 1942). Acceleration also positively affects students psychologically. Mental stability, lack of anxiety and nervousness, happiness, and selfconcept (regarding their own competence within academic, social, global, athletic, behavioral, and physical appearance domains) all increase (Rogers, 2002).

Many gifted students worry that the gifted label, rather than their personal qualities, affects others' attitudes and opinions toward them. This perception tends to negatively affect gifted student performance as students purposefully underachieve to try to gain social acceptance (Gross, 1993).

A study conducted by Rogers (1986) examined the motivation levels of gifted students. She contended that gifted students are more intrinsically than extrinsically motivated. Her finding is consistent with more recent research conducted by Gottfried & Gottfried (1996). In addition, Rodgers (1986) found that gifted students prefer independent tasks to mixed-ability group work and do not like "being given the responsibility for the learning achievements of classmates."

Perfectionism affects gifted students. One study by Baker (1996) confirmed that gifted students are stressed by perfectionism more than other students. Another study of 112 seventh and eight grade gifted students found that 87.5% of the students had strong tendencies toward perfectionism (Schuler, 1999). Holding high standards or expectations of one's own ability is important, however, this mindset may become negative if there is no flexibility to change standards when necessary, resulting in intense frustration and neuroticism. It becomes a clinical concern if "it prohibits gifted students from

appreciating their competency or the adequacy of their work" (Baker, 1996). "Neurotic perfectionists" are unable to feel satisfaction because they feel they cannot do things at a level they find acceptable (Hamacheck, 1978). Perfectionism may also cause other problems including underachievement (Lind, 1992), procrastination (Ferrari, 1992), and later in life, career obstacles and failures (Connolly, 1994). Fortunately, perfectionism can also be a positive force in a student's life. Self-oriented perfectionism leads to intrinsic motivation and goal orientation, self-efficacy in learning and performance, effective resource management, along with adaptive cognitive and metacognitive strategies. Compared to self-oriented perfectionism, social perfectionism has negative impacts in these areas leading to test anxiety and the need to be recognized by others (Mills & Blankstein, 2000).

Most Important Impacts of Gifted Programs

There has been little research of gifted program impacts on gifted students. Most studies have focused on program effectiveness of specific program models, short-term learning outcomes, and program improvements. Because of the limited literature regarding gifted education program impacts, Callahan (1996) and Reis (2001) urged educators to pursue follow-up studies of gifted programs and how participation has impacted student lives.

Hertzog (2003) conducted interviews of college students who had participated in gifted programs at the elementary level to document how early experiences impacted their lives. Students interviewed noted that gifted education had an exceptionally positive impact on their lives. They discussed how programs had better prepared them for college and careers, taught them how to study effectively, supported organization and time management, enhanced their work ethic, helped them accomplish more difficult tasks, and, overall, improved their self-esteem. Students in this 2003 study remarked that gifted classes were more thought-provoking and allowed them to engage in discussions, handson activities, group work, and problem solving. Participants in Hertzog's study noted that the most memorable experiences in gifted programming were project-based and centered around student interest. Student interviews also revealed that gifted education teachers created a more engaging, challenging, and motivating environment compared to regular classroom teachers. Teachers in the gifted program were more caring, helped motivate the students, implemented a variety of instructional activities, and allowed students to work independently and at their own pace.

VanTassel-Baska (2006) also conducted a study in which gifted students were surveyed on their experiences in gifted education. These applications of student surveys suggests that acquiring student feedback may also be an important factor to consider when evaluating the quality of gifted programs.

Gifted Program Evaluation

One of the purposes of program evaluation is to ensure a program is stable and effective through the documentation of program impacts (Callahan & Caldwell, 1995). The National Association for Gifted Children published gifted education programming criterion concerning program evaluation in 1998. They defined program evaluation as "the systematic study of the value and impact of service provided". Guiding principles for program evaluation include purposeful evaluation, efficient and economic evaluation, and competent and ethical evaluation. Results from evaluations must also be made available through written reports. Together these principles help address whether gifted services have reached their intended goals.

Gifted education lacks credibility in part because of "multiple conceptions of giftedness and multiple models with limited research behind them" (Van-Tassel-Baska, 2006). As of 2000, there were only 15 evaluation reports over a period of ten years that were associated with gifted education program findings and results (Johnsen, 2000). Tomlinson and Callahan (1994) found that evaluation literature emphasized the need to utilize findings, suggesting that many of the reports are not used to improve gifted programs. However, more recent literature suggests that there has since been some progress in this area (Avery & VanTassel-Baska, 2001; Avery, VanTassel-Baska, & O'Neill, 1997).

Overall, quality gifted programs should focus on developing students' abilities and provide students with opportunities not offered in the regular classroom. Gifted programming is important for meeting gifted students' social-emotional needs and development without which students may struggle with building meaningful peer relationships. Gifted programs are intended to be extensions of the regular, heterogeneously grouped classroom, not a separate entity (except in the case of gifted magnet schools). Currently, it appears as though gifted programs are lacking and need additional support. Implementing and utilizing program evaluations may help to increase the quality of current gifted programs in schools and impacts on student achievement and motivation levels.

Chapter 3: Methodology

Design of the District's Gifted Education Program

The district in which this study took place adopted the Autonomous Learner Model in 1984 with support from the school board. This approach provides the framework for the current gifted education program.

The Autonomous Learner Model (ALM) developed by Betts and Knapp (1980) leads students in grades K-12 though five dimensions to foster autonomy and meet the needs of students. The first dimension, Orientation, helps develop a foundation for students by uncovering the concepts of giftedness, talent, intelligence, and creativity, and examines how to develop potential. This level also encourages group interaction. The second dimension. Individual Development, guides students through the process of developing skills and attitudes essential for becoming a lifelong learner including cognitive skills, social and emotional skills, inter-and intra-personal skills, physical skills, along with concepts and attitudes of lifelong learning. At this level, students also develop organizational and productivity skills. The third dimension of the Autonomous Learner Model, Enrichment, provides students the freedom to explore content and curriculum not typically part of the regular classroom curriculum. Students are required to design, implement, complete, and present a project. This level also promotes a humanitarian spirit through cultural and service activities and events. The fourth dimension, Seminars, is designed for students to experience guided independent group learning. Groups are provided with the opportunity to research and present a topic of interest to the rest of the class and other interested parties. This helps move the role of the passive student to the role of the active learner. The fifth and final dimension, In-Depth Studies, grants students

the opportunity to pursue long-term in-depth studies of choice. Students have complete control over what will be learned, how it will be learned, and how to present what was learned. Students also determine the level of facilitation needed from a teacher or mentor. In all, "the goal of the model is to facilitate the growth of students as independent, self-directed learners, with the development of skills, concepts, and positive attitudes within the cognitive, emotional, and social domains" (Betts, Toy, Vasquez, 1996).

Participants and Research Setting

Fifteen high school students (4 male, 11 female; 11 European-American, 4 African-American; 7 ninth grade, 4 tenth grade, and 4 eleventh grade students) at an urban public school system in Iowa participated in the study. All students who were both currently enrolled in high school in the district and gifted programming or who had participated in gifted programming in past years were collected on a list. The list was then systematically divided in half. Those on the final list were invited to participate in the study. Consent to conduct the study was obtained from the University of Northern Iowa's human subjects review committee and the district's associate superintendent. All student participants and their parents received a letter explaining the purpose of the study and consented in writing to participate.

Research Design

The research design involved administration and analysis of a program evaluation survey. The survey is shown in the Appendix. The survey instrument consisted of four sections: (1) a basic information section; (2) a gifted education history section; (3) an education experience survey section; and (4) a gifted education experience survey section. The basic information section requested each student's age, month and year of birth, current high school, current grade level, and current grade point average. The gifted education history section documented the student's current and past enrollments in the gifted program, advanced classes, and AP classes. This section also asked for the grade level in which the student was first identified for gifted programming and how many years the student had been involved in gifted programming, advanced classes, and/or AP classes.

The education experience survey section listed fifty questions that used a sevenpoint rating scale: strongly agree, agree, somewhat agree, not sure, somewhat disagree, disagree, and strongly disagree. The questions focused on students' education experiences thus far in their schooling. These questions were designed to help determine students' motivation levels, desire to learn and acquire knowledge, and drive to seek out challenges. The final section of the survey, gifted education experience, consisted of ten seven-point rating scale questions and four short answer questions. The survey questions were designed to assess the district's current goals for their gifted program. These questions were used to rate the efficacy of the gifted program. The short answer questions allowed participants to provide insights concerning their experiences in gifted programming and to offer suggestions about how to improve the program.

Data Analysis

The first research question, "What are the reported attitudes of students participating in the school district's gifted and talented program?" was answered with rating scale data from the survey. The survey statements fit into five categories and were rated using a seven-point scale: intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation, desire to seek

.

20

out challenge, desire to seek out academic learning opportunities, and perfectionism. The mean answer for each survey statement was calculated to determine the consensus of students.

The second research question, "What are the reported impacts of the gifted program on students?" was answered through the short answer response question, "Has participating in gifted/advanced education changed who you are as a student? How or how not?" and through gifted program-specific survey statements. Students were also presented with an additional short response question that asked them to share their most memorable lesson or unit they participated in since identification for the gifted program and what made it memorable. All data from the survey questions were collected and categorized based on similarities in student answers. Answers that fit into similar categories were tallied to determine the most frequent responses. Survey statements were analyzed in a similar fashion to the survey statements that determined student attitudes about school and their education.

The third research question, "What suggestions do students have for improving the program?" was answered through short answer responses on the survey. Student comments were categorized and tallied to determine the most desired changes to the current program. The results from each of these questions are documented in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4: Results and Discussion

Student Responses to Attitude Items

Mean student responses to survey questions regarding intrinsic motivation are shown in Table 1 and Table 2. Table 1 shows survey statements worded so that the best outcome would be strong student agreement (a score near "1").

Results from the survey statements in Table 1 suggest that students exhibit selfconfidence in their academic abilities and potential. Students appear to not be solely motivated by grades (although this is a motivating factor as illustrated in Table 3).

Table 1.

General Education Survey Statements Examining Intrinsic Motivation Part I

Survey Statement	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
Compared with others in my school, I think I am a good student.	1.6 (0.6)	Agree	Agree
I have very high expectations of myself.	1.6 (0.6)	Agree	Agree
I am genuinely motivated to do well in school because I want to learn.	2.1 (0.8)	Agree	Agree
In class, I want to see what I can learn and accomplish for myself.	2.1 (1.3)	Agree	Agree
I go to school because when I succeed in school I feel important.	2.3 (1.2)	Agree	Strongly Agree
I am motivated to study because I want to know and understand the material.	2.4 (1.4)	Agree	Strongly Agree
I am motivated to study because I want to develop myself as much as possible.	2.5 (1.6)	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
I go to school because school is fun.	3.2 (1.4)	Somewhat Agree	Somewhat Agree
TOTAL	2.2 (0.5)	Agree	Strongly Agree

Results imply that students do not fully consider school to be "fun;" however, this statement could potentially be interpreted in several different ways.

Statements in Table 2 were worded so that the most desirable answer would be strong disagreement (a score near "7"). Most students disagree about no longer demonstrating a desire to attend school. However, there was an outlier for this item. One participant surveyed strongly agreed with the first two statements (a score of "1") listed in Table 2 suggesting that she may not be receiving a desired level of challenge. It is important to note that this student also currently has a 4.0 GPA.

Table 2.

General Education Survey Statements Examining Intrinsic Motivation Part II

Survey Statements	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
I once had good reasons for going to school; however, now I wonder whether I should continue.	6.3 (1.6)	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
I don't know why I go to school. I feel like I'm wasting my time.	6.2 (1.7)	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
If I do not do well in a class or assignment, it is because I do not have talent in that area and probably will never do well in it.	5.5 (1.4)	Disagree	Disagree
I complete just the minimum amount of school work required of me.	5.4 (2.1)	Somewhat Disagree	Strongly Disagree
When work is hard, I either give up or study only the easy parts.	5.2 (1.7)	Somewhat Disagree	Disagree
My top reason for NOT studying is that I can get by fine without studying.	3.2 (2.2)	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
TOTAL	5.3 (1.1)	Somewhat Disagree	Strongly Disagree

The result from the survey statement, "My top reason for NOT studying is that I can get by fine without studying" implies that students do not find studying necessary, perhaps because they already know the content or because of the level of confidence they

exhibit regarding their academic ability to quickly learn. It is hard to tell from this statement alone, therefore further research is needed to determine the exact cause behind student responses.

Table 3 and Table 4 explore the level to which participants are extrinsically motivated. Desired results in Table 3 is strong agreement with the statements.

Table 3.

General Education Survey Statements Examining Extrinsic Motivation Part I

Survey Statement	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
My grades are important because I want to get into college.	1.1 (0.4)	Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree
My grades are important because I want to graduate with honors.	1.7 (1.0)	Agree	Strongly Agree
I go to school because I think a high school education will help better prepare me for the career I have chosen.	1.8 (0.9)	Agree	Agree
I take some courses because they will look good on my transcripts when I apply to college.	1.8 (1.1)	Agree	Strongly Agree
In class, I want to outdo my classmates and friends.	1.9 (1.1)	Agree	Strongly Agree
I work hard to get a good grade even when I don't like the class.	2.0 (1.4)	Agree	Strongly Agree
My grades are important because I don't want to disappoint my family.	2.3 (1.7)	Agree	Strongly Agree
It is important to me to be recognized when I do well in school.	2.3 (1.6)	Agree	Agree
I go to school for the pleasure I experience when I excel in my studies.	2.5 (0.9)	Somewhat Agree	Somewhat Agree
I go to school because I need at least a high school degree in order to find a high-paying job later on.	3.5 (2.1)	Not Sure	Strongly Agree
I never boast about my grades.	4.4 (2.1)	Not Sure	Disagree
TOTAL	2.3 (0.9)	Agree	Strongly Agree

The majority of participants strongly agreed that their desire to attend college is why grades are important to them. Other reasons indicate that students are extrinsically motivated to perform well in school because they are preparing for the future beyond their enrollment in the public school system. This indicates that students are goal-oriented and extrinsically motivated in a positive manner.

Table 4 statements were designed with the hope that participants would rate the statements as strongly disagree (a score near "7") to demonstrate that they are not solely motivated for extrinsic means.

Table 4.

General Education Survey Statements Extrinsic Motivation Part II

Survey Statement	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
I sign up for the easiest teacher so my grades will be better.	5.8 (1.4)	Disagree	Disagree
I am motivated in school ONLY because I want to get good grades.	4.2 (1.7)	Not Sure	Strongly Agree
I go to school for my social life - to be with friends.	3.5 (1.7)	Not Sure	Somewhat Agree
l need to always know how well I'm doing in order to feel motivated to work.	2.7 (1.8)	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
TOTAL	4.0 (1.3)	Not Sure	Somewhat Agree

One survey result shows that most students do not sign up for easier teachers so that it will help their GPAs. Other results point towards students' need to know their current grade standings in class in order to feel motivated to work. The result from this statement however does not detail whether a poor grade or high grade is the means for motivation. The third item in Table 4, "I go to school for my social life – to be with friends," is problematic because it contains more than one idea. The statement should have been worded, "I *only* go to school for my social life – to be with friends." Therefore results of this statement will not be interpreted.

The results shown in Table 5 and Table 6 examine participants' desires to seek out challenges in school and their level of persistence once presented with challenges. Desirable responses would be strong agreement (a score of "1") as listed in Table 5, whereas Table 6 would show strong disagreement (a score of "7").

In Table 5, responses indicate participants are persistent when presented with challenges and continue to work through problems until a solution is found, resulting in a feeling of accomplishment. The last three items in Table 5 indicate that students do not enthusiastically seek out challenge. Because the sample size was small, the results are not definitive, thus, further research is needed.

Table 5.

General Education Survey Statements Challenge Part I

Survey Statement	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
I am persistent and don't give up when faced with a problem.	2.3 (1.0)	Agree	Agree
I get satisfaction from meeting intellectual challenges and pushing my limits.	2.4 (1.4)	Agree	Agree
I prefer class work that is challenging so I can learn new things.	2.7 (1.1)	Somewhat Agree	Agree
I take courses that are harder because I enjoy being challenged.	2.9 (1.7)	Somewhat Agree	Agree
I prefer difficult tasks as opposed to moderate tasks.	2.9 (1.3)	Somewhat Agree	Somewhat Agree
TOTAL	2.6 (0.3)	Somewhat Agree	Agree

The neutral result of student response to the statement is Table 6 could possibly be influenced by high school degree requirements. This result does not state whether students willingly opt in or out of advanced courses which bring greater challenge and the possibility of reduced success.

Table 6.

General Education Survey Statements Challenge Part II

Survey Statement	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
I try to only take courses in which I know I will be successful.	4.4 (1.5)	Not Sure	Disagree

Ideal responses to statements in Table 7 would be strongly agree (a score near "1"). All participants surveyed expressed that they plan to attend college. Most also agreed that they enjoy learning new things. It appears, however, that many students are not satisfied with average grades, even when learning occurs. This reveals that students have high expectations in their abilities (as indicated in Table 1); additionally, some may exhibit perfectionistic traits (as highlighted in Table 8).

Results documented in Table 8 suggest that there is no consensus amongst students regarding perfectionism. When the raw data were examined, an equal number of students agreed with the statements compared to those who disagreed with the statements. This could potentially indicate that some students may in fact exhibit some perfectionistic tendencies. More research in this area is needed to definitively show that this is accurate.

Table 7.

General Education Survey Statements Concerning Academic Learning

Survey Statement	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
I plan to attend college.	1.0 (0.0)	Strongly Agree	Strongly Agree
I go to school because eventually it will enable me to enter the job market in a field that I like.	1.5 (0.6)	Agree	Strongly Agree
No matter how much I like or dislike a class, I still try to learn from it.	1.9 (1.0)	Agree	Agree
I go to school because I experience pleasure and satisfaction while learning new things.	2.2 (0.9)	Agree	Agree
I go to school for the pleasure that I experience in broadening my knowledge about subjects which appeal to me.	2.3 (1.0)	Agree	Agree
When I do poorly on a test, I try to learn from my mistakes rather than viewing it as a total loss.	2.6 (1.5)	Somewhat Agree	Agree
I go to school for the pleasure I experience when I discover new things I've never seen before.	2.6 (1.2)	Somewhat Agree	Somewhat Agree
If I am not doing well in a class, it is because I need to study and practice more; eventually I will do well.	2.6 (1.2)	Somewhat Agree	Agrce
I learn simply for the sake of learning.	3.2 (1.5)	Somewhat Agree	Somewhat Agree
I take time to learn new things even when they are not required for a class.	3.5 (1.5)	Not Sure	Somewhat Agree
I am satisfied with an average grade as long as I learn from my mistakes.	5.2 (1.9)	Somewhat Disagree	Disagree
TOTAL	2.6 (1.1)	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree

Perfectionism (as presented in Table 8) tends to be an issue with gifted students as previously discussed in the literature review of this topic in Chapter 2. Because of this, it is important for educators to realize the potential for students to face this social-emotional obstacle. Through support and guidance, teachers may help prevent potential negative impacts associated with perfectionism.

Table 8.

General Education Survey Statements on Perfectionism

Survey Statement	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
I do all that I can to make my assignments turn out perfectly; flawless work is very important.	3.4 (1.7)	Somewhat Agree	Somewhat Agree
If I do not score top grades in a class, I am very disappointed in myself and feel like a failure.	3.9 (1.8)	Not Sure	Somewhat Agree
I feel helpless about school after I receive a few bad grades and I want to give up.	5.1 (2.1)	Somewhat Disagree	Strongly Disagree
TOTAL	4.2 (2.0)	Not Sure	Somewhat Agree

The survey statements in Table 9 were created to assess the district's current gifted education curriculum standards. The results from this section indicate that, in general, students agreed with the statements, suggesting that the goals of the district's program are being satisfied. While strong agreement (a score of "1") is ideal, the positive response in data is encouraging.

Table 9.

Gifted Education Survey Questions

Survey Question	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
Participating in gifted/advanced education has helped me identify my interests, strengths, and gifts.	1.9 (1.3)	Agree	Strongly Agree
I have had opportunities to engage in and cxplore my interests, strengths, and gifts because of participating in sifted/advanced education	1.9 (1.4)	Agree	Strongly Agree
I enjoy engaging in creative thinking processes.	2.0 (1.4)	Agree	Strongly Agree

Table continues

Survey Question	Mean (SD)	Mean Answer	Mode Answer
I enjoy engaging in critical thinking processes.	2.0 (1.5)	Agree	Strongly Agree
I can identify my strengths and weaknesses and I use that information to help grow in my learning.	2.1 (1.1)	Agree	Agree
I can positively and effectively communicate and engage in group interactions.	2.1 (1.5)	Agree	Agree
I feel better prepared to make future career decisions because of participating in gifted/advanced education.	2.3 (1.5)	Agree	Agree
I apply lifelong learning concepts to my life.	2.5 (1.2)	Somewhat Agree	Agree
I understand and can ethically apply a variety of research methods.	2.5 (1.4)	Somewhat Agree	Agree
I understand what it means to be a lifelong learner.	2.5 (1.7)	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
TOTAL	2.2 (0.2)	Agree	Strongly Agree

Student Responses to the Open-Ended Prompts

Participants' short answer responses were categorized and their frequencies tallied. Table 10, Table 11, Table 12, and Table 13 list these responses.

Students shared their most memorable lesson or project and what made it memorable, as illustrated in Table 10. The most frequent response was that students considered independent projects with integrated creativity as most memorable. Students found the most important aspect that made projects or lessons memorable was selfdirection or choice was incorporated. These findings should be considered when gifted and talented teachers design curriculum for their gifted and talented classrooms and groups. Table 10.

Frequency	Most memorable gifted education lesson or project	
6	Independent Projects with Integrated Creativity	
3	Discussion of Goals/ Giftedness of Self/ Personal Strengths	
2	Simulations	
2	Debating/ Discussing	
2	Written Product	
1	Service Learning	
Frequency	Reason the lesson or project was memorable	
5	Self-Direction/ Choice	~
3	Challenging	
3	Social-Emotional Development	
2	Highly Creative	
1	Real-Life Connection	

Students' Responses Regarding the Most Memorable Lesson or Project

The responses presented in Table 11 share students' beliefs of program experiences that all gifted students should encounter. The most frequent responses focused around experiencing challenging work that requires in-depth study. Team building and feeling part of a community were also important experiences students noted.

Table 11.

Students' Responses Concerning Program Experiences Others Should Have

Frequency	One event experienced that all gifted students should experience
6	Challenging, in-depth work
5	Team Work & Sense of Community
2	Self-Direction/ Choice
2	Social-Emotional Development
1	Creativity
1	Motivating Teacher
1	I never experienced anything exciting.

An alarming response uncovered a student who would not recommend any experiences she had during enrollment in the program because she has "never experienced anything exciting." In spite of this student's current 4.0 GPA, this finding reveals an at-risk student whose needs are not being met in the current program.

Table 12 lists participants' opinions concerning areas of the current gifted program that need improvement. The most numerous responses included increasing student independence and challenge. Many other students wished that the advanced level of work required in the gifted program would be integrated into other courses that were not currently "advanced". Other, more varied, responses are also important to consider as they highlight program areas that could be improved.

Table 12.

Participants' Desired Changes to the Current Gifted Program

Frequency	Desired changes to the gifted program
8	Independence
6	More challenge
5	Gifted education level work in other courses
4	No changes
2	Build stronger relationships between students
Ι	More creativity
1	More funding to pay for larger and more expanded projects.
1	Make sure the instructors are qualified because it's a vital part of the program.
I	Become a weighted grade course to recognized students' abilities and accomplishments.
1	Don't combine gifted education time with reading class, but have a separate class.

Participants expressed the impacts the gifted program has had on them as documented in Table 13. Most all of the impacts reported were positive in nature and demonstrated that they improved students' academic abilities and motivation levels. Many disclosed that participating in gifted programming helped them develop critical thinking skills and the ability to approach problems in new ways.

One student revealed that the program has had little impact other than allowing her to work with like-ability peers. This finding is concerning and demonstrates that not all student needs, nor program goals, are being met by the current gifted program.

Table 13.

Program Impacts Reported

Frequency	Ways the gifted program has impacted students					
6	The challenge helped me develop critical thinking.					
4	Motivated me to strive for excellence					
4	Helped me view problems from different perspectives					
2	Enjoyment of school					
2	Real-world and career preparation					
1	Self-discovery					
1	It has helped me be creative.					
1	Not much. It's given me a chance to be around people of my same intelligence, but hasn't					
	changed my learning or wanting to be challenged.					

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendations

Summary of Results

The results of this research investigation reveal many positive impacts gifted programming in the studied school district has had on students. Students involved in the program exhibited self-confidence in their abilities, had high expectations of themselves, were motivated intrinsically because they feel a sense of accomplishment, were motivated extrinsically because they seek success in their futures, enjoyed learning and being challenged, and were persistent when presented with difficult tasks. All participants surveyed expressed that they plan to attend college.

Overall, the goals of the current gifted program are being met, with the exception of one participant who expressed that she has not been affected academically or motivationally by the program, except that she has had the opportunity to be around likeability peers. This could potentially indicate that other students who did not participate in this study may also feel this way, though this is unknown. In general, students found independent projects that included choice and self-direction to be the most memorable lessons during their enrollment in the gifted program. They believed that challenging, indepth work, teamwork, and community building were areas that all gifted students should experience.

Students also expressed their desires for program changes. Some of these changes included increasing the independence and challenge level in the gifted program and incorporating gifted-level work into other courses.

In summary, participation in the program seems to have led to the development of critical thinking skills, increased student desires to strive for excellence, and allowed students to examine different perspectives.

Recommendation of Changes to the Survey

The survey used in this study was introduced to a sample of the gifted population in the district. After implementation and analysis, it is clear that some improvements are needed to refine the survey. Several survey statements would be more effective and direct if reworded more clearly and definitively. Utilizing other current surveys used in program evaluation, in full or in part, (i.e. a survey created by VanTassel-Baska, 2006), may also be beneficial and offer more reliable data. The length of the survey may have deterred some students from participating thus shortening the survey may result in a higher number of participants.

Implications for Changes to Practices in the Current Gifted Program

Students' strongest desires were for incorporating more independence in the gifted program and more opportunities to engage in challenging and creative work. One student mentioned that having opportunities to apply for funding for larger, more indepth projects would be beneficial. Students wanted the advanced level work they conduct in the gifted program to be integrated into their regular courses, though they expressed that they did not want gifted education experiences and opportunities to be limited to a single-subject area. They wished the grades they receive in the gifted program would be weighted like other advanced courses, as the work they perform is of an equal or greater caliber. Opportunities to build stronger relationships amongst their intellectual peers was also requested. Above all, qualified gifted education teachers were said to be a vital part of the gifted program.

Translation of curricular models into effective practice varies considerably... Evidence strongly suggests that content-based accelerative approaches should be employed in any curriculum used in school-based programs for the gifted and that schools need to apply curricular models faithfully and thoroughly in order to realize their potential impacts over time" (VanTassel-Baska & Brown, 2009).

Based on VanTassel-Baska and Brown's suggestions it is important to consider full implementation of a gifted program model. While the district in which this study took place has adopted a model, currently it is implemented only in part. It may be important for the district to consider full implementation of the current model or to begin exploration of other models that would better fit the current dynamic of the district.

Recommendations for Future Research

While the results of this research are limited, they are important for the school district in which it took place. The results would be more reliable with a larger participant number, allowing for a greater number of students to share how the program has affected them and to express their opinions of the program. The data from a larger study may help to determine which aspects are excelling as well as those that are lacking, thus resulting in greater impacts on the program.

The lack of research pertaining to evaluations of gifted programs demonstrates the need for further investigation in the area. More studies in the domain of gifted program evaluations would unveil genuine student outcomes after participation in various gifted program models. Furthermore, including multiple districts that employ different gifted education curricular models would allow for a diversity of theories to be tested and evaluated for efficiency and effectiveness.

References

- Avery, L., & VanTassel-Baska, J. (2001). Investigating the impact of gifted education evaluation at state and local levels: Problems with traction. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 25, 153-176.
- Avery, L. VanTassel-Baska, J., & O'Neill, B. (1997). Making evaluation work: One school district's model. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 41, 28-37.
- Baker, J. A. (1996). Everyday stressors of academically gifted adolescents. *Journal of Secondary Education*, 7, 356-368.
- Betts, G. T., & Knapp, J. (1980). Autonomous learning and the gifted: A secondary model. In J. S. Renzulli (Ed.), *Systems and models for developing programs for the gifted and talented*. Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press. 27-56.
- Betts, G. T., Toy, R. E., & Vasquez, K. A. (2006). *The young gifted child and the autonomous leaner model*. Greely, CO: Autonomous Learning Publications & Specialists.
- Birch, J. W. (1984). Is any identification procedure necessary? *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 28(4), 157-161.
- Borland, J. H., & Wright, L. (1994). Identifying young, potentially gifted, economically disadvantaged students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 38(4), 164-171.
- Burks, B. S., Jensen, D. W., & Terman, L. M. (1930). *The promise of youth: Volume 3: Genetic studies of genius*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Callahan, C. M. (1982). Myth: There must be "winners" and "losers" in identification and programming! *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 26(1), 17-19.
- Callahan, C. M. (1996). A critical self-study of gifted education: Healthy practice, necessary evil, or sedation? *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *19*, 148-163.
- Callahan, C. M., & Caldwell, M. S. (1995). A practitioner's guide to evaluating programs for the gifted. Washington, DC: The National Association for Gifted Children.
- Clark, B. (1997). Growing up gifted: Developing the potential of children at home and at school (Fifth Ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Colangelo, N., Assouline, S. G., & Gross, M. (2004). A nation deceived: How schools hold back America's brightest students. Iowa City, IA: University of Iowa.

Connolly, M. (1994). Are you drowning in details? Supervisory Management, 39(1), 1-2.

- Delcourt, M. A. B. (1993). Creative productivity among secondary school students: Combining energy, interest, and imagination. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 37, 22-31.
- Feldman, D.H. (2003). A developmental, evolutionary perspective on giftedness. *Rethinking Gifted Education*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press. 10-13.
- Ferrari, J. R. (1992). Procrastination and perfect behavior: An exploratory factor analysis of self-presentation, self-awareness, and self-handicapping components. *Journal of Research In Personality*, 26, 75-84.
- Gardner, H. (1993). Multiple intelligences. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Gentry, M. L., & Ferriss, S. (1999). A model of collaboration to develop science talent among rural middle school students. *Roeper Review*, 21, 316-320.
- Gottfried, A., & Gottfried, A. (1996). A longitudinal study of academic intrinsic motivation in intellectually gifted children: Childhood through early adolescence. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 40(4), 179-183.
- Gross, M. U. M. (1993). Exceptionally gifted children. London, UK: Routledge.
- Hamacheck, D. E. (1978). Psychodynamics of normal and neurotic perfectionism. *Psychology*, *15*, 27-33.
- Hérbert, T. P. (1993). Reflections at graduation: The long-term impact of elementary school experiences in creative productivity. *Roeper Review*, *16*, 22-28.
- Hollingworth, L. S. (1942). *Children above 180 IQ stanford-binet: Origin and development*. New York, NY: World Book.
- Hunsaker, S. L., & Callahan, C. M. (1991). Student assessment and evaluation. In W. T. Southern & E. D. Jones (Eds.), *The academic acceleration of gifted children*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press. 207-222.
- Janos, P. M., & Robinson, N. M. (1985). Psychosocial development in intellectually gifted children. In F. D. Horowitz & M. O'Brien (Eds.), *The gifted and talented: Developmental perspectives*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. 149-195.
- Johnsen, S. K. (2000). What the research says about accountability and program evaluation. *Tempo*, 23-30.
- Kanevsky, L., & Keighley, T. (2003). To produce or not to produce? Understanding boredom and the honor in underachievement. *Roeper Review*, *26*(1), 20-28.

- Krathwohl, D.R. (1998). Methods of educational and social science research: an integrated approach (Second Ed.). Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press, Inc. 353.
- Lubinski, D., Webb, R. M., Morelock, M. J., & Benbow, C. P. (2001). Top 1 in 10,000: A 10 year follow-up of the profoundly gifted. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *4*, 718-729.
- Lind, S. (1992). Perfectionism and the gifted underachiever. *AEGUS Newsletter*, 3(2), 1-2.
- McMillan, J. H. (2012). Educational research: Fundamentals for the consumer (Sixth Ed.) Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Mills, J. S., & Blankstein, K. R. 2000. Perfectionism, intrinsic vs. extrinsic motivation, and motivation strategies for learning: A multidimensional analysis of university students. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 29(6), 1191-1204.
- National Association for Gifted Children. (2010). NAGC Pre-K-grade 12 gifted program standards: A blueprint for quality gifted education programs. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nagc.org/uploadedFiles/Information_and_Resources/Gifted_Program_Standards/K-12%20booklet%20for%20convention%20(final).pdf</u>
- National Association for Gifted Children and Council for Exceptional Children. (2006). *Teacher knowledge & skill standards for gifted and talented education*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nagc.org/uploadedFiles/Information_and_Resources/NCATE_standar</u> <u>ds/final%20standards%20(2006).pdf</u>
- National Association for Gifted Children. (2008a). *The history of gifted and talented* education. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nagc.org/index.aspx?id=607</u>
- National Association for Gifted Children. (2008b). What are the different ways gifted students are served in the classroom? Retrieved from http://www.nagc.org/index2.aspx?id=548
- National Association for Gifted Children. (2008c). *What is giftedness?: Current definitions.* Retrieved from http://www.nagc.org/WhatisGiftedness.aspx
- Purcell, J. H. (1993). The effects of the elimination of gifted and talented programs on participating students and their parents. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *37*(4), 177-178.
- Reis, S. M. (2001). *Why gifted programs make a difference in children's lives and how to ensure that these programs continue.* Keynote address at the annual meeting of the National Association for Gifted Children. Cincinnati, OH.

- Renzulli, J. S. & Reis, S. M. (1985). *The school-wide enrichment model: A* comprehensive plan for educational excellence. Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press.
- Renzulli, J. S. (2004). Introduction to identification of students for gifted and talented programs. In J. S. Renzulli (Eds.), *Identification of students for gifted and talented programs*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press. xxiii-xxxiv.
- Rogers, K. B. (1986). Do the gifted think and learn differently? A review of recent research and its implications for instruction. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted, 10,* 17-39.
- Rogers, K. B. (2002). Effects of acceleration on gifted learners. *The social and emotional development of gifted children: What do we know?* Waco, TX: Prufrock Press, Inc. 3-12.
- Rogers, K. B. (2007). Lessons learned about educating the gifted and talented: A synthesis of the research on educational practice. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 51(4), 382-296.
- Schuler, P. A. (1999). Voices of perfectionism: Perfectionistic gifted adolescents in a *rural middle school*. Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented.
- Shields, C. M. (2002). A comparison study of student attitudes and perceptions in homogeneous and heterogeneous classrooms. *Roeper Review*, 24, 115-120.
- Siegle, D., & McCoach, D. B. (1999). Academic challenge: Are we barking up the wrong tree? Presentation at the 46th Annual Convention of the National Association for Gifted Children. Albuquerque, NM.
- Sternberg, R. J. (1997). Successful intelligence. New York, NY: Plume.
- Sternberg, R. J. (2003). Giftedness according to the theory of successful intelligence. In N. Colangelo & G. A. Davis (Eds.) *Handbook of gifted education* (Third Ed.) Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Taylor, L. A. (1992). The effects of the Secondary Enrichment Triad Model and a career counseling component on the career development of vocational-technical school students. University of Connecticut: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented.
- Tomlinson, C. A., & Callahan, C. M. (1994). Planning effective evaluations for programs for the gifted. *Roeper Review*, 17, 46-51.

- Tomlinson, C. A., Kaplan, S. N., Renzulli, J. S., Purcell, J. H., Leppien, J. H., & Burns, D. E. (2009). *The parallel curriculum: A design to develop learner potential and challenge advanced learners (Second Ed.)* Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Torrance, E. P. (1984). The role of creativity in identification of the gifted and talented. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 28(4), 153-156.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2006) A content analysis of evaluation findings across 20 gifted programs: A clarion call for enhanced gifted program development. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 50(3), 199-215.
- VanTassel-Baska, J., & Brown, E.F. (2009). An analysis of gifted education curriculum models. *Methods and Materials for Teaching the Gifted (Third Ed.)*. Waco, TX: Prufrock Press, Inc. 75-106.
- VanTassel-Baska, J., & Wood, S. M. (2009). The Integrated Curriculum Model. In J. S. Renzulli, E. J. Gubbins, K. S. McMillen, R. D. Eckert, & C. A. Little (Eds.), Systems & models for developing programs for the gifted & talented. (Second Ed.) Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press. 655-691.
- Vaughn, V. L., Feldhusen, J. F., & Asher, J. W. (1991). Meta-analysis and review of research on pull-out programs in gifted education. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 35(2), 92-98.
- Wiersma, W. (1986). *Research methods in education: An introduction (Fourth Ed.).* Newton, MA: Allyn and Bacon, Inc. 177, 456.
- Winner, E. (1996). *The miseducation of our gifted children*. Davidson Institute for Talent Development. Retrieved from <u>http://www.davidsongifted.org/db/Articles_id_10316.aspx#</u>

Appendix: Student Survey

Please complete the entire survey to the best of your ability. Please provide accurate information and answer all questions thoughtfully and truthfully. Your specific responses to this survey will not be shared with your teacher or staff at your school. Your responses will not affect any of your grades. All surveys are confidential and will only be used for data collection purposes.

~ Thank you in advance for your participation.

Basic Information
Name
Current Age Month and Year of Birth
High School Currently Attending:
□ West High School □ East High School □ Expo High School
Circle current Grade Level: 9 10 11 12 Other:
Current GPA
Gifted Education History
Are you currently enrolled in: (check all that apply) ELP (Expanded Learning Program) Advanced Class(es) AP Course(s) I am not enrolled in any of these courses at this time.
Have you ever been enrolled in: (check all that apply) ELP Talent Development (elementary school) ELP (Expanded Learning Program – elementary, middle school, high school) Advanced Class(es) (middle school, high school) AP Course(s) (high school only)
When were you identified for ELP? $ \begin{array}{c} 3^{rd} \text{Grade} & 4^{th} \text{Grade} & 5^{th} \text{Grade} \\ \hline & 6^{th} \text{Grade} & 7^{th} \text{Grade} & 8^{th} \text{Grade} \\ \hline & 9^{th} \text{Grade} & 10^{th} \text{Grade} & 11^{th} \text{Grade} & 12^{th} \text{Grade} \\ \end{array} $
How many years have you been involved in ELP, Talent Development (elementary), advanced class(es), and/or AP course(s)?
Have you ever been accelerated? YesNo If yes, check all that apply:
If acceleration is checked, what subjects/grades were you accelerated in? (Example, from 3 rd to 4 th grade; or in 4 th grade, attended 5 th grade math)

Education Experience

Listed below are 50 statements that address your educational experience so far. Using the scale provided, rate these statements based on how they apply to you.

Please circle the best answer choice for each statement.

1. In class, I want to see what I can learn and accomplish for myself.

Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
2. In class, I want to outdo my classmates and friends.								
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
3. I am motivate	ed to stu	dy because I want	to get good grade	es.				
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
4. I am motivate	ed to stu	dy because I want	to know and und	erstand the material.				
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
5. I am motivate	5. I am motivated to study because I want to develop myself as much as possible.							
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
6. My top reason for NOT studying is that I can get by fine without studying.								
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
7. I am genuine	ly motiv	ated to do well in	school because I	want to learn.				
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
8. I am motivate	ed in sch	ool ONLY becaus	e I want to get ge	ood grades.				
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
9. My grades ar	e import	ant because I wan	t to graduate with	honors.				
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
10. My grades a	re impor	tant because I wa	nt to get into coll	ege.				
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
11. My grades are important because I don't want to disappoint my family.								
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		
12. I complete just the minimum amount of school work required of me.								
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7		

13. Compared v	vith othe	rs in my school, I	think I'm a good	student.		
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
14. When I do poorly on a test, I try to learn from my mistakes rather than viewing it as a total loss.						
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
15. When work	is hard,	I either give up or	study only the e	asy parts.		
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
16. It is importa	int to me	to be recognized	when I do well in	n school.		
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
17. I take time t	o learn r	ew things even w	hen they are not	required for a class.		
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
18. I try to only	take cou	rses in which I kn	ow I will be succ	cessful.		
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
19. I take cours	es that ar	e harder because l	enjoy being cha	llenged.		
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
20. I prefer clas	s work t	hat is challenging	so I can learn ne	w things.		
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
21. I am persiste	ent and c	lon't give up when	n faced with a pro	oblem.		
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
22. I go to scho	ol becau	se I need at least a	high-school deg	ree in order to find a	high-pay	ing job later on.
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
23. I go to school because I experience pleasure and satisfaction while learning new things.						
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
24. I go to school because I think a high-school education will help better prepare me for the career I have chosen.						
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
25. I go to school for my social life – to be with friends.						
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7

26. I don't know why I go to school. I feel like I'm wasting my time.						
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
27. I go to school for the pleasure I experience when I excel in my studies.						
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
28. I go to scho	ol for the	e pleasure I experi	ence when I disc	over new things I've	never see	en before.
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
29. I go to scho	ol becau	se eventually it wi	ll enable me to e	nter the job market in	n a field t	hat I like.
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
30. I go to scho	ol becau	se school is fun.				
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
31. I once had g	good reas	sons for going to s	chool; however,	now I wonder wheth	er I shoul	d continue.
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
32. I go to scho	ol becau	se when I succeed	in school I feel i	mportant.		
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
33. I go to scho appeal to me.	ol for the	e pleasure that I ex	sperience in broad	dening my knowledg	e about s	ubjects which
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
34. I plan on at	tending o	college.				
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
35. I take some	courses	because they will	look good on my	transcript when I ap	ply to co	llege.
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
36. I need to always know how well I'm doing in order to feel motivated to work.						
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
37. I get satisfaction from meeting intellectual challenges and pushing my limits.						
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7
38. I work hard to get a good grade even when I don't like a class						
Strongly Agree	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7

39. If I am not o well.	loing we	ll in a class, it is b	ecause I need to a	study and practice me	ore; even	tually I will do	
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
40. No matter h	ow mucl	n I like or dislike a	class, I still try t	o learn from it.			
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
41. If I do not d will never do w	lo well in ell in it.	a class or assignm	nent, it is because	e I do not have talent	in that ar	ea and probably	
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
42. I learn simp	ly for the	e sake of learning.					
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
43. I prefer diff	icult task	s as opposed to m	oderate tasks.				
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
44. I never boas	st about r	ny grades.					
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
45. I am satisfie	ed with a	n average grade as	long as I learn f	rom my mistakes.			
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
46. I sign up for	r the casi	est teacher so my	grades will be be	tter.			
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
47. I feel helple	ss about	school after I rece	eive a few bad gra	ades and I want to give	ve up.		
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
48. I do all that	48. I do all that I can to make my assignments turn out perfectly; flawless work is very important.						
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
49. If I do not score top grades in a class, I am very disappointed in myself and feel like a failure.							
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	
50. I have very high expectations of myself.							
Strongly Agree 1	Agree 2	Agree Somewhat 3	Not Sure or N/A 4	Somewhat Disagree 5	Disagree 6	Strongly Disagree 7	

Gifted Education Experience Listed below are 10 statements that address your gifted education experience so far. Using the scale provided below, rate these statements based on how they apply to you. Please circle the best answer choice for each statement. 1. Participating in gifted/advanced education has helped me identify my interests, strengths, and gifts. Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree 2 3 5 1 4 6 7 2. I have had opportunities to engage in and explore my interests, strengths, and gifts because of participating in gifted/advanced education. Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree 3 5 6 7 2 4 1 3. I can identify my strengths and weaknesses and I use that information to help grow in my learning Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree 4 3 6 7 1 2 5 4. I enjoy engaging in critical thinking processes. Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree | Agree 3 5 7 2 6 1 5. I enjoy engaging in creative thinking processes. Strongly Agree Agree Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 6. I understand what it means to be a lifelong learner. Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 7. I apply lifelong learning concepts to my life. Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A 6 7 2 3 5 T 8. I understand and can ethically apply a variety of research methods. Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 9. I can positively and effectively communicate and engage in group interactions Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree 3 4 7 2 10. I feel better prepared to make future career decisions because of participating in gifted/advanced education. Agree Somewhat Not Sure or N/A Somewhat Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Agree 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Short Answer Questions Please answer each of the following short answer questions to the best of your ability. If you need more space, please continuing writing on the back and include the question number. 1a. What is most memorable lesson/project you worked on in ELP (any grade level)? 1b. What made it memorable? 2. What is one thing that you experienced in gifted/advanced education that all ELP students should have the opportunity to experience? 3. If there were three things you could change about the gifted program, what would they be and why? First: Second: Third: 4. Has participating in gifted/advanced education changed who you are as a student? How or how not?

Verification

By signing below, I verify that I completed this survey to the best of my ability and provided accurate information. I answered all questions thoughtfully and truthfully.

Student Signature

Date

Thank you for taking this survey. Your input will help ensure that future students involved in gifted and advanced education will experience a strong gifted education program that supports their learning needs.